**RECEIVED**

**Jun 23 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY  
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

---

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001902

---

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to quash the indictment as duplicitous and failing to give a special verdict form?
  
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a continuance to allow the Petitioner to conduct a complete review the contents of a State witness's phone?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kenneth Earle McGill (McGill) was arrested on August 21, 2018 and charged with trafficking in methamphetamine 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams. The Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted McGill for trafficking in methamphetamine 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams on December 3, 2018. (R. pp. 1-2). The Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted McGill again for trafficking in methamphetamine on September 6, 2019. (R. pp. 3-4). McGill moved to quash the Indictment on September 12, 2019, which was denied by Order filed September 19, 2019. (R. pp. 5-6). McGill was tried before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury on November 4-6, 2019. (R. pp. 21-564). He was convicted of trafficking in methamphetamine 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams. On November 6, 2019, McGill was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment.

McGill filed his appeal to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals affirmed via an Unpublished Opinion filed March 22, 2023. State v. Kenneth Earle McGill, Op. No. 2023-UP-109 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 22, 2023). The Petition for Rehearing was denied May 24, 2023. The Court of Appeals affirmed via an Unpublished Opinion withdrawn, substituted and refiled May 24, 2023. State v. Kenneth Earle McGill, Op. No. 2023-UP-109 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 22, 2023, withdrawn, substituted and refiled May 24, 2023). Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari to review that decision.

## ARGUMENT

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Pulley, 423 S.C. 371, 376-77, 815 S.E.2d 461, 464 (2018) (quoting State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). The appellate court “is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. However, “[q]uestions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to de novo review and which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below.” State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012).

1. **Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to quash the indictment as duplicitous and failing to give a special verdict form?**

The Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted McGill for trafficking in methamphetamine 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams on December 3, 2018. (R. pp. 1-2). The Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted McGill again for trafficking in methamphetamine on September 6, 2019. (R. pp. 3-4). Both indictments read as follows:

The Defendant, Kenneth Earl McGill, did on or about August 21, 2018, in Abbeville County, South Carolina, knowingly sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or did provide financial assistance or otherwise aid, abet, attempt, or conspire to sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or was knowingly in actual or constructive possession or knowingly attempted to become in actual or constructive possession of one hundred (100) grams or more of methamphetamine as defined and otherwise limited in Section 44-53-110, 44-53-210(d)(1), or 44-53-210(d)(2), all in violation of 44-53-375(C), Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976, as amended).

The State proceeded under Indictment No.: 2019-GS-01-0549. McGill moved to quash the Indictment on September 12, 2019 on the grounds that the Indictment was duplicitous, which was denied by the Trial Court. (R. pp. 7-20). (R. pp. 5-6). This was error.

The Trial Court's Order as it related to the indictment held in part:

The Defense moved to quash the indictment or in the alternative for a continuance as the indictment is duplicitous in that it contains more than one offense. The Indictment for the most part repeats the Trafficking statute which does state varied ways to accomplish the offense of Trafficking. The Defense relies on a federal Fourth Circuit Appeals case, United States vs. Furlow, in support of its position. The Court believes that this Furlow case does not benefit the Defendant in that it only deals with federal sentencing and classification and would not provide grounds to quash the indictment. The Court's position is that the Indictment is proper and said Motion is denied. (R. p. 6).

Petitioner challenges the Indictment as duplicitous, meaning it alleged "two distinct and separate offenses in the same count. ... present[ing] the risk that a jury divided on the two separate offenses in one count could nevertheless convict through a general verdict on the one count." State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 555–56, 743 S.E.2d 773, 776 (2013) (internal citations omitted).

In support of his challenge, Petitioner cites to United States v. Furlow, 928 F.3d 311, 313 (4th Cir. 2019), cert. granted, judgment vacated on other grounds, No. 19-7007, 2020 WL 2814768 (U.S. June 1, 2020). The Furlow Court dealt with the following:

Defendant Bryshun Genard Furlow pleaded guilty in the District of South Carolina to a single count of possession with intent to distribute cocaine and methamphetamine, and also to possession of a firearm and ammunition as a convicted felon. After ruling that Furlow is an "armed career criminal" pursuant to the Armed Career Criminal Act (the "ACCA") and a "career offender" under the Sentencing Guidelines, the district court sentenced him to 180 months in prison. On appeal, Furlow maintains that he does not have the requisite number of predicate convictions for those sentencing enhancements. More specifically, he contends that the court erred in ruling that his prior felony convictions for distribution of crack cocaine in South Carolina and first-degree arson in Georgia are proper predicates under the ACCA and the Guidelines career offender provision. As explained below, we reject those contentions and affirm. Id., 928 F.3d 311, 313 (4th Cir. 2019), cert. granted, judgment vacated other grounds, No. 19-7007, 2020 WL 2814768 (U.S. June 1, 2020).

Relevant to Petitioner’s appeal, is the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals analyzation and finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B) is divisible, - or in other words, when the statute “list[s] elements in the alternative .....thereby defin[ing] multiple crimes”. Furlow, 928 F.3d at 316. Section 44-53-375(C) is very similar to Section 44-53-375(B) which states:

(B) A person who manufactures, distributes, dispenses, delivers, purchases, or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or possesses with intent to distribute, dispense, or deliver methamphetamine or cocaine base, in violation of the provisions of Section 44-53-370, is guilty of a felony. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375.

Analyzing the facts of the Furlow case, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals stated:

Generally, we use the categorical approach when assessing whether a state crime constitutes a “serious drug offense” under the ACCA or a “controlled substance offense” under the Guidelines. See United States v. Dozier, 848 F.3d 180, 183 (4th Cir. 2017) (Guidelines); United States v. Williams, 326 F.3d 535, 538 (4th Cir. 2003) (ACCA). In making a categorical approach analysis, we are obliged to “focus on the elements, rather than the facts, of the prior offense.” See United States v. Shell, 789 F.3d 335, 338 (4th Cir. 2015) (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted). Under that approach, we address only whether “the elements of the prior offense ... correspond in substance to the elements of the ... offense” defined by the ACCA or the Guidelines. See Dozier, 848 F.3d at 183 (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted).

As related above, a modification to the categorical approach is appropriate when a state statute is divisible (i.e., specifies elements in the alternative, thereby defining multiple offenses), and at least one of the crimes defined therein has elements that match the elements of an offense specified in the ACCA or the Guidelines, but another of those crimes does not. See Mathis v. United States, — U.S. —, 136 S. Ct. 2243, 2249, 195 L.Ed.2d 604 (2016). To determine divisibility, it is important to understand the distinction between the elements of an offense and the means of committing an offense. See *id.* at 2256. The “elements” of an offense “are the constituent parts of a crime’s legal definition — the things the prosecution must prove to sustain a conviction.” *Id.* at 2248 (internal quotation marks omitted). As the Supreme Court has emphasized, “[a]t a trial, [elements] are what the jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt to convict the defendant; and at a plea hearing, [elements] are what the defendant necessarily admits when he pleads guilty.” *Id.* (citations omitted). By contrast, “means” are the “various factual ways of committing” an element of an offense. *Id.* at 2249. The modified

categorical approach has no role to play when a state statute specifies alternative means of commission, but it may apply when a state statute lists elements in the alternative. *Id.* at 2256. *Furlow*, 928 F.3d at 318.

In determining that S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B) was divisible the Fourth Circuit

Court of Appeals stated:

Because section 44-53-375(B) of the South Carolina Code prohibits the mere “purchase[ ]” of methamphetamine or crack cocaine, we agree with *Furlow* that the statute is not a categorical match with the federal definitions of “serious drug offense” and “controlled substance offense.” See 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(A)(ii) (defining “serious drug offense”); USSG § 4B1.2(b) (defining “controlled substance offense”). We must therefore assess and decide whether the statute is divisible, and thus amenable to the modified categorical approach. In so doing, we look to sources like the statutory text and South Carolina court decisions interpreting it. See *Mathis*, 136 S. Ct. at 2257.

Starting with section 44-53-375(B)’s text, nothing therein clearly suggests that the various specified actions are means rather than elements. As the Supreme Court explained in *Mathis*, the language of a state statute itself might answer the divisibility inquiry by “identify[ing] which things must be charged (and so are elements) and which need not be (and so are means),” or by specifying a list of “illustrative examples.” See 136 S. Ct. at 2256 (internal quotation marks omitted). Because section 44-53-375(B)’s text does not have those indicators, we are entitled to turn to the relevant state court decisions to discern whether those courts treat the listed alternatives as elements or means. See *id.*

Our review of South Carolina precedents leads us to conclude that the state courts have treated the alternatives specified in section 44-53-375(B) as distinct offenses with different elements. By way of example, in *State v. Brown*, the Court of Appeals of South Carolina explained that two of the actions specified in section 44-53-375(B) — that is, distribution of crack cocaine and possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute — are separate “statutory crimes.” See 319 S.C. 400, 461 S.E.2d 828, 831 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995); see also *State v. Gill*, 355 S.C. 234, 584 S.E.2d 432, 434 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (identifying “the elements of distribution of crack cocaine”); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (S.C. Ct. App. 1996) (same). In the same vein, the state courts have treated manufacturing as a separate offense. See *Carter v. State*, 329 S.C. 355, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776-77 (1998); cf. *State v. Austin*, 276 S.C. 441, 279 S.E.2d 374, 375 (1981) (treating “manufacture” of marijuana as separate offense under nearly identical statute). And those courts also treat conspiracy under section 44-53-375(B) as a distinct offense. See *State v. Mouzon*, 326 S.C. 199, 485 S.E.2d 918, 919, 922

(1997) (describing indictment and conviction for crime of “conspiracy to distribute crack cocaine”); *cf.* Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405, 602 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2004) (explaining that “[c]onspiracy is a separate offense from the substantive offense, which is the object of the conspiracy” in the context of section 44-53-375). Because the South Carolina courts treat the alternatives specified in section 44-53-375(B) as separate offenses with different elements, we are satisfied that the statute is divisible.

Our divisibility ruling garners support from persuasive authority. For example, in an unpublished opinion in United States v. Marshall, we ruled divisible an almost identical South Carolina drug statute, section 44-53-370(a)(1) of the South Carolina Code. See 747 F. App'x 139, 150 (4th Cir. 2018).<sup>10</sup> For our purposes, the sole distinction between section 44-53-370(a)(1) and section 44-53-375(B) is that the former applies to all controlled substances and controlled substance analogues, while the latter concerns specifically methamphetamine and crack cocaine.

In the Marshall decision, Judge Keenan emphasized that the South Carolina courts treat the alternatives specified in section 44-53-370(a)(1) as distinct crimes. *See id.* In particular, Marshall observed that the “[c]ourts in South Carolina treat the purchase of a controlled substance as a distinct crime from possession with intent to distribute.” *Id.* (citing State v. Watson, No. 2013-UP-312, 2013 WL 8538756, at \*2 (S.C. Ct. App. July 3, 2013)). The Marshall decision further explained that South Carolina prosecutors “charge one of the listed statutory alternatives [specified in section 44-53-370(a)(1)] in state court indictments” and that “South Carolina juries typically are instructed to find one of the alternative elements listed in the statute beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* Additionally, Marshall observed that the Fifth Circuit had held that section 44-53-370(a) of the South Carolina Code is divisible. *Id.* (discussing United States v. Rodriguez-Negrete, 772 F.3d 221, 226-27 (5th Cir. 2014)). The Marshall panel thus concluded that section 44-53-370(a)(1) is divisible. *Id.* And Marshall’s thorough analysis of section 44-53-370(a)(1) reinforces our decision that section 44-53-375(B) is divisible. *See* Collins v. Pond Creek Mining Co., 468 F.3d 213, 219 (4th Cir. 2006) (explaining that our unpublished decisions are “entitled ... to the weight they generate by the persuasiveness of their reasoning” (internal quotation marks omitted)). United States v. Furlow, 928 F.3d 311, 319–20 (4th Cir. 2019), cert. granted, judgment vacated on other grounds, No. 19-7007, 2020 WL 2814768 (U.S. June 1, 2020).

In footnote 15 of Furlow, Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals stated, “Furlow also argues that our recognition that section 44-53-375(B) is divisible renders duplicitous countless state

court drug offense indictments. *See United States v. Burns*, 990 F.2d 1426, 1438 (4th Cir. 1993) (explaining that an indictment is duplicitous when it “join[s] in a single count ... two or more distinct and separate offenses” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Even if correct, Furlow identifies a potential issue best raised with — and resolved by — state prosecutors and the South Carolina courts. *Furlow*, 928 F.3d at 322.

The same analysis would and does render Section 44-53-375(C) divisible. Petitioner’s Indictment is duplicitous in that it “join[s] in a single count ... two or more distinct and separate offenses” *Id.* To sell methamphetamine is a crime, to manufacture methamphetamine is a crime, to deliver methamphetamine is a crime, to purchase methamphetamine is a crime, to bring methamphetamine into this State is a crime, to provide financial assistance or otherwise aid, abet, attempt or conspire to sell methamphetamine are crimes, to do so as to manufacturing methamphetamine are crimes, to do so as to delivering methamphetamine are crimes, to do so as to purchasing methamphetamine are crimes, to do so as to bringing into this State methamphetamine are crimes, knowingly having actual or constructive possession of methamphetamine is a crime and knowingly attempting to become in actual or constructive possession of methamphetamine is a crime. These are distinct offenses with different elements, not alternative “means” of various factual ways of committing an element of the offense.

Further, Petitioner was prejudiced by proceeding to trial on a duplicitous indictment. He was charged with trafficking in methamphetamine 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams for bringing a quantity of methamphetamine and money to Angelina Williams’ home at 260 Suttles Landing, Iva, South Carolina, which is located in Abbeville County. This happened as a result of a buy/bust operation being conducted by Abbeville County Sheriff’s Office narcotic

investigators out of Williams' home. Williams did not know McGill and neither did the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office. McGill lived in Anderson County and never would have come into Abbeville County but for Stewart Ferguson calling him as part of the buy/bust operation. Any other conduct that Ferguson may have testified to as to McGill did not occur in Abbeville County or on August 21, 2018.

However, the trial court read to the jury pool verbatim the indictment at the beginning of trial, "The Defendant, Kenneth Earl McGill, did on or about August 21, 2018, in Abbeville County, South Carolina, knowingly sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or did provide financial assistance or otherwise aid, abet, attempt, or conspire to sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or was knowingly in actual or constructive possession or knowingly attempted to become in actual or constructive possession of one hundred (100) grams or more of methamphetamine as defined and otherwise limited in Section 44-53-110, 44-53-210(d)(1), or 44-53-210(d)(2), all in violation of 44-53-375(C), Code of Laws of South Carolina". (R. p. 26).

The trial court charged the jury, "the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant knowingly sold, manufactured, delivered, purchased, brought into the State, provided financial assistance or otherwise aided, abetted, attempted, or conspired to sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or was knowingly in actual or constructive possession or knowingly attempted to become in actual or constructive possession of methamphetamine. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the amount of methamphetamine was 100 grams or—100 grams or more but less than 200 grams. (R. pp. 549-550). A copy of the jury charge went to the jury. (R. p. 550).

The trial court did discuss prior to charging the jury, “Let me throw this out, and I’m not suggesting that I’m changing my previous ruling as to the defense motion, but let’s assume for the sake of argument that there is a problem with the indictment. If the jury gets a – is requested by way of a special verdict to designate which act in the trafficking statute they unanimously believe that Mr. McGill committed, would that cure — assuming that there is a problem, would that not, cure them to say, okay, we find this act or acts he committed under the – under the trafficking statute? I’m just throwing it out just for discussion purposes. I’m not saying that I necessarily would – would do that”. (R. pp. 480-481). Petitioner requested a special verdict form. (R. pp. 482-483). The trial court presented to the jury a general verdict form, either guilty or not guilty. (R. pp. 550-551). (R. p. 592).

This Court in State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 557, 743 S.E.2d 773, 777 (2013) held, “A duplicitous indictment's potential prejudice can be cured through jury instructions and the use of a special verdict. See Robinson, 627 F.3d at 958 (“It is black letter law that duplicitous indictments can be cured through appropriate jury instructions.”); Mauskar, 557 F.3d at 226–27 (finding the defendant was not prejudiced due to the trial court's clear instructions that in order to return a guilty verdict, the jury had to unanimously agree he committed one of the offenses in a duplicitous indictment). The trial court did not cure the duplicitous indictment through jury instructions and the use of a special verdict form and as a result Petitioner suffered prejudice.

The State compounded the problem during closing arguments by placing Section 44-53-375(C) on the monitor before the jury and recited the entirety of Section 44-53-375(C). (R. pp. 502-504). The State then argued each individual offense set forth in (C), as to McGill, did he sell? Absolutely. (R. p. 504). There was no evidence that McGill sold methamphetamine in

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