STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Aug 11 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal From Abbeville County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001902

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

KENNETH EARLE MCGILL, PETITIONER.

Opinion No. 2023-UP-109 (S.C. Ct. App. Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled May 24, 2023)

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29469
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Id.

Analysis

Appellant’s argument centers on an analysis of the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals’ opinion in United States v. Furlow, 928 F.3d 311 (4th Cir. 2019). However, the opinion did not involve a question of whether an indictment containing the text of S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-375(B) is a duplicitous indictment; the Fourth Circuit was only concerned with the divisibility of the potential offenses contained within the statute for the purpose of determining whether the defendant’s prior conviction merited an enhanced sentence under the Armed Career Criminal Act (ACCA), 18 U.S.C. § 924(e). Id. at 317–322. By way of footnote, the Fourth Circuit explicitly passed on ruling whether the divisibility of the potential offenses contained within 44-53-375(B) “render[ed] duplicitous countless [S]tate court drug offense indictments” and indicating the answer to such a question was best explored by State prosecutors and South Carolina courts. Id. at 322 n.15.

Because the Fourth Circuit did not analyze the duplicity of the prior drug conviction’s indictment in Furlow, it was likely unaware that the question of what constitutes a duplicitous

indictment has already been answered under South Carolina law. In State v. Samuels, 403 S.C. 551, 743 S.E.2d 773 (2013), the defendant was charged with assaulting with an intent of killing “Patricia Speaks and/or Carla Daniels.” Id. at 554, 743 S.E.2d at 775. Citing to State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 54, 543 S.E.2d 541, 543 (2001), the Supreme Court of South Carolina found this indictment duplicitous. Samuels, 403 S.C. at 557–58, 743 S.E.2d at 777. Notably, Jones involved a defendant who argued the three counts of armed robbery for which he was indicted should have been combined into a “single count” against him based upon the “single larceny rule” stated in State v. Waller, 280 S.C. 300, 312 S.E.2d 552 (1984). Jones, 344 S.C. at 52–53, 543 S.E.2d at 543. The Jones Court explained the reasoning behind the single larceny rule is that “the act of taking is one continuous act or transaction, and [because] the **gist of the offense is the felonious taking of property**, the legal quality of the act is not affected by the fact that the property stolen belonged to different persons” and that larceny, as codified,³ contemplates the combined value of stolen goods. Id. at 53, 543 S.E.2d at 543. (emphasis added). Further, the Jones court found armed,

³ S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-13-30 (2010) defines petit and grand larceny as:

(A) Simple larceny of any article of goods, choses in action, bank bills, bills receivable, chattels, or other article of personalty of which by law larceny may be committed, or of any fixture, part, or product of the soil severed from the soil by an unlawful act, or has a value of two thousand dollars or less, is petit larceny, a misdemeanor, triable in the magistrates court or municipal court, notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, and 14-25-65. Upon conviction, the person must be fined not more than one thousand dollars, or imprisoned not more than thirty days.

(B) Larceny of goods, chattels, instruments, or other personalty valued in excess of two thousand dollars is grand larceny. Upon conviction, the person is guilty of a felony and must be fined in the discretion of the court or imprisoned not more than:

- (1) five years if the value of the personalty is more than two thousand dollars but less than ten thousand dollars;
- (2) ten years if the value of the personalty is ten thousand dollars or more.

robbery—a crime of violence—is an offense primarily against the person, and thus one which “may” allow separate indictments for each individual victim. Id. at 53–55, 543 S.E.2d at 543–44. Thus, the Jones court upheld the single larceny rule and affirmed the State’s decision to charge Jones for three separate counts of armed robbery. Id. at 55, 543 S.E.2d at 544.

Relying on Jones, the Samuels Court distinguished the facts of that case from Waller, explaining that “[f]or offenses **against the person**, a separate offense exists for each person subjected to the criminal conduct.” Samuels, 403 S.C. at 557, 743 S.E.2d at 777 (emphasis added). Still, the Court found the error in using the duplicitous indictment was harmless because: the trial court instructed the jury that a guilty verdict required the jury unanimously agree that Samuels assaulted Speaks, or they unanimously agree that Samuels assaulted Daniels; the Court utilized a special verdict form requiring separate findings of fact for Samuels and Daniels; and Samuels was sentenced for only one offense despite being found guilty of both offenses. Id. at 557–58, 743 S.E.2d at 777.

In the instant case, the trial judge properly found Appellant’s indictment was not duplicitous. The charged offense, trafficking in methamphetamine between 100 and 200 grams, states:

A person who knowingly sells, manufactures, delivers, purchases, or brings into this State, or who provides financial assistance or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to sell, manufacture, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession or who knowingly attempts to become in actual or constructive possession of ten grams or more of methamphetamine or cocaine base, as defined . . . is guilty of a felony which is known as “trafficking in methamphetamine or cocaine base”

S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-375(C). Pursuant to South Carolina law, the indictment against Appellant properly included this language. S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-19-20 provides:

Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required

by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (2005); see also, State v. Shoemaker, 276 S.C. 86, 275 S.E.2d 878 (1981) (indictment phrased substantially in language of statute which creates and defines offense is ordinarily sufficient).

Appellant claims in his brief, without citation to authority, the various actions listed in the indictment are “distinct offenses with different elements.” (Br. of Appellant, p.15). This is incorrect. Appellant’s indictment lists only a single crime and merely included more than one method of violation; such an indictment is not duplicitous. See State v. Pee Dee News Co., Inc., 286 S.C. 562, 565, 336 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1985) (indictment for obscenity, which included multiple methods of violation of the statute found not duplicitous); State v. Sheppard, 248 S.C. 464, 466-467, 150 S.E.2d 916, 917 (1966) (finding indictment for DUI not duplicitous because the “indictment charges only one offense which may be established by proof that the defendant operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or of narcotic drugs, either or both.”). These offenses are not distinct and different; Appellant was charged with his actions stemming from a single course of conduct. If Appellant was indicted for his actions with separate indictments, such indictments would have run afoul of the Fifth Amendment.

Samuels, cited by Appellant, involved offenses against multiple victims which should have been indicted as separate offenses. Id., 403 S.C. at 557, 743 S.E.2d at 777. Jones, the case which the Samuels Court itself used to analyze the question of duplicity, noted non-violent crimes involving a continuous course of action, such as larceny should be indicted as a single offense. Jones at 53, 543 S.E.2d at 543. Larceny is not a situation in which a defendant is indicted for each individual item stolen; citing to Waller, the Jones Court reiterated the sum total of theft, even when

multiple victims are involved, is used provided the property was stolen in a single event. Jones at 52–53, 543 S.E.2d at 543.

The facts of Appellant’s case only support a finding that Appellant’s actions consisted of a continuous course of conduct. The State provided evidence that, at a minimum, Appellant: (1) actually and knowingly possessed the drugs in question; (2) while in possession of those drugs, Appellant delivered the recovered drugs to Ferguson at Williams’s home; and (3) Appellant attempted to deliver the drugs pursuant to his belief he was engaging in a purchase/sell transaction with Ferguson. Pursuant to Appellant’s argument, each of these actions was a separate and distinct crime. If, as Appellant argues, this was the case, the State could charge each action as a separate offense. Not only is this disadvantageous to Appellant but violates Appellant’s right against double jeopardy.

The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution offer protection to citizens from being subjected to double jeopardy for the same offense. *See* U.S. Const. amend. V (“No person shall be . . . subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 12 (“No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty”). This guarantee against double jeopardy offers three separate constitutional protections: (1) protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) protection against prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection against multiple punishments for the same offense after an improvidently granted mistrial. North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 27-28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977).

If there is anything settled in the jurisprudence of England and America, it is that no man can be twice lawfully punished for the same offence. And though there have been nice questions in the application of this rule to cases in which the act charged was such as to come within the definition of more than one statutory offence, or to

bring the party within the jurisdiction of more than one court, there has never been any doubt of its entire and complete protection of the party when a second punishment is proposed in the same court, on the same facts, for the same statutory offence.

Ex Parte Lange, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) 163, 168 (1873).

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals relied on State v. Tumbleston⁴ in ruling that “the indictment was not duplicitous because it related only to one crime which constituted a continuous course of conduct.” State v. Kenneth Earle McGill, Op. No. 2023-UP-109 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 23, 2023, withdrawn, substituted and refiled May 24, 2023). Any and all of these “separate” offenses alleged by Appellant arise out of the same fact pattern; his agreement to bring drugs over to Ferguson at Williams’s house. Any attempt to prosecute Appellant under the “separate” offenses listed by him would be in violation of the Fifth Amendment’s protections against double jeopardy.

Jury Instructions

For these same reasons, the trial judge did not err in refusing to give a special jury instruction. As noted above, the State properly charged Appellant with a single offense which, pursuant to the evidence presented at trial, Appellant violated in multiple ways. It is proper for the State to include all relevant language from the charging statute in the indictment. 41 Am. Jur. 2d Indictments and Informations § 202; Hamling v. U.S., 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974) (“It is generally sufficient that an indictment set forth the offense in the words of the statute itself, as long as ‘those words of themselves fully, directly, and expressly, without any uncertainty or ambiguity, set forth all the elements necessary to constitute the offence intended to be punished.’” (quoting United

⁴ “The trial court’s factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 94, 654 S.E.2d 849, 851 (Ct. App. 2007).

States v. Carll, 105 U.S. 611 (1882)). A special verdict form was not required because the offense, as charged, was appropriate and not duplicitous. Therefore, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

II. The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant Petitioner a continuance to review the contents of a State witness's phone.

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a continuance to allow the Petitioner to conduct a complete review of the contents of a State witness's phone. Specifically, Petitioner states: "The Court of Appeals erred in that it cannot determine whether Petitioner's impeachment of the witness by other means was as effective as it would have been had the continuance been granted." (Petition for Writ of Certiorari pg. 16).

"The trial court's denial of a motion for a continuance will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion." State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 208, 656 S.E.2d 359, 369 (2008) (citing State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002)). "An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). "Reversals of refusal of a continuance are about as rare as the proverbial hens' teeth." McMillian, 349 S.C. at 21, 561 S.E.2d at 604 (citing State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 95 S.E.2d 857 (1957)).

Pursuant to Rule 7(a), SCRCrimP, the presiding judge may grant a motion for continuance "only upon a showing of good and sufficient legal cause." This Court has "repeatedly upheld denials of motions for continuances where there is no showing that any other evidence on behalf of the defendant could have been introduced, or that any other points could have been raised, if

more time had been granted to prepare for trial.” State v. McKennedy, 348 S.C. 270, 280, 559 S.E.2d 850, 855 (2002) (citing State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 459, 469 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1996));; see also, State v. Motley, 251 S.C. 568, 571, 164 S.E.2d 569, 570 (1968) (“When a motion for a continuance is based upon the contention that counsel for the defendant has not had time to prepare his case its denial by the trial court has rarely been disturbed on appeal.”).

In the instant case, Appellant never demonstrated a “good and sufficient” legal cause for the continuance. Trial counsel claimed that the purpose for the requested continuance was to find evidence that Ferguson had dealt drugs for a longer period than he had testified. Appellant also sought information with which he could illustrate Ferguson received a reduction of his own charge and potential sentence as a result of his apparent cooperation with the State. As noted by the trial judge, trial counsel’s efforts were actually a fishing expedition: trial counsel could not state any specific reason why he believed Ferguson had dealt drugs for a longer period of time than Ferguson had claimed. More importantly, trial counsel failed to argue how such information would improve the defense’s strategy: trial counsel was already aware of Ferguson’s history as a drug dealer, reduced charges, and his decision to testify against Appellant. All of which trial counsel brought up on cross-examination and used in his closing to impugn Ferguson’s credibility. Yet, none of this information contradicted the key evidence of Appellant’s guilt, his possession of over 100 grams of methamphetamine, the significant sum of money in his car, and his own recorded statements to Ferguson.

As the Court of Appeals noted, Petitioner accomplished the stated goal of the continuance through other means. He sought merely to explore the cell phone data in the hope of finding additional information which could be used to further impeach Ferguson. Petitioner had already impeached Ferguson by detailing his history, his reduced charges, and the inconsistencies in his

testimony. Petitioner extensively argued regarding Ferguson's bias and motive to lie to avoid a significant sentence and help himself out. The fishing expedition in hopes of finding further inconsistencies is not a proper basis to grant the continuance and is not a proper ground for granting cert. As a result, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and convictions of the lower court be affirmed.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit